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1. 출장개요

○ 출 장 자 : 문정호 연구위원 (국토계획연구본부), 김준기 책임연구원 (국

토인프라연구본부)

○ 과 제 명 : National Territorial Vision and Strategy for Green Growth

towards 2030

○ 출장목적 : 르완다 “녹색성장을 위한 국토 비전 및 전략” 연구 수행을 위

한 르완다 정부(Ministry of Infrastructure)와의 업무협의 및 현지 조사

○ 출장기간 : 2012. 9. 9(일) ~ 2012. 9. 17(월) (8박 9일)

○ 출 장 지 : 르와다 키갈리

○ 기대효과

- 르완다 정부 관계자와의 협의를 통해 과업내용 구체화

- 르완다 현지 실태를 보다 자세하고 정확히 파악하여 연구 수행의 질을 제

고

- 현지 관계자와의 교류를 통하여 인적 네트워크 구축

- 원내 연구진의 국제컨설팅 역량을 제고하고, 향후 국제컨설팅 사업의 영역

을 확장하는데 기여

○ 출장일정

일정 출발지 도착지 업무수행내용
접촉인물

(직책포함)

9월9일 
(일)

인천 키갈리
인천 출발 
키갈리 도착

9월10일 
(월)

키갈리 키갈리

○ (09:00-11:00) 르완다 
인프라부처(Mininfra) 방문 및 
관계자 접견, 협의

○ (14:30-16:30) 르완다 
주택개발청(RHA) 방문 및 
관계자 접견, 협의

- Christian Rwakunda, DG, 

Mininfra

- Esther Mutamba, DG, RHA

9월11일 
(화)

키갈리 키갈리

○ (09:30-11:00) 르완다 
교통청(RTDA) 방문 및 관계자 
접견, 협의

○ (16:30-18:00) 르완다 
에너지‧물‧위생청(EWSA) 방문 및 
관계자 접견, 협의

- Twagira M. Elias, DG, 

RTDA

- Innocent, Data manager, 

RTDA

- Uwineza Josephine, Railway 

Project Manager, RTDA

- Muyange Yves, CEO, 

EWSA
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일정 출발지 도착지 업무수행내용
접촉인물

(직책포함)

9월12일  
(수)

키갈리 키갈리

○ (08:30-09:30) 르완다 
주택개발청(RHA) 방문 및 협의

○ (12:00-14:30) Kamony 지역 현장 
탐방, 조사

○ (15:00-16:00) 르완다 
자원청(RNRA) 방문 및 관계자 
접견, 협의

- Kalimba Innocent, Head of 

Construction & Legislation 

Division, RHA

- Kamanzi M. Franco, 

Regulations & Standards unit 

Coordinator, RHA

- Emmanuel Nkurnziza, DG, 

RNRA

9월13일  
(목)

키갈리 키갈리

○ (13:30-14:30) 르완다 
에너지관리청(REMA) 방문 및 
관계자 접견, 협의

○ (15:00-17:00)키갈리 시청 방문 및 
관계자 접견, 협의

- Donna D. Rubinoff - Senior 

Advisor, City of Kigali

9월14일  
(금)

키갈리 키갈리

(09:00-18:00) 무산제 등 키갈리 외곽 
지역 현장 탐방, 조사

  - Kivu Power Generation, 

Gisenyi hydropower Plant, 

DRC 접경지역 등

9월15일  
(토)

키갈리 키갈리

(09:00-18:00) 무산제 등 키갈리 외곽 
지역 현장 탐방, 조사

  - Reconciliation Village, 

Tea Company 등
9월16일  

(일)
키갈리 키갈리 출발

9월19일 
(월)

인천 인천 도착

○ 회의전경
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○ 접 촉 자

성명 직위 연락처 기관

Christian 

Rwakunda

Director General Policy 

& Planning Coordinator

T: +250 252 585 755

E: Christian.rwakunda@mininfra.gov.rw

H: www.mininfra.gov.rw

Ministry of 

Infrastructure

Daniel H. Shin Senior Energy Advisor

T: +250 784 980 577

E: daniel.shin@mininfra.gov.rw

H: www.mininfra.gov.rw

Ministry of 

Infrastructure

Esther Mutamba Director General

T: +250 0788 307 077

E: esther.mutamba@rha.gov.rw

H: www.rha.gov.rw

Rwanda Housing 

Authority

Kalimba 

Innocent

Head of Construction & 

Legislation Division

T: +250 0788 685 002

E: kalinno2006@yahoo.fr

H: www.rha.gov.rw

Rwanda Housing 

Authority

Kyazze Edward

Head of Housing, Urban 

Planning & 

Development Division

T: +250 788 574 374

E: eddyunited@yahoo.com

H: www.rha.gov.rw

Rwanda Housing 

Authority

Kamanzi M. 

Franco

Regulations & 

Standards Unit 

Coordinator

T: +250 0788 301 918

E: francokamanzi@gmail.com

H: www.rha.gov.rw

Rwanda Housing 

Authority

Twagira M. 

Elias
Director General

T: +250 788 304 735

E: dg@rtda.gov.rw

H: www.rtda.gov.rw

Rwanda Transport 

Development 

Agency

Uwineza 

Josephine

Railway Project 

Manager

T: +250 788 300 132

E: uwijos@rtda.gov.rw

H: www.rtda.gov.rw

Rwanda Transport 

Development 

Agency

Innocent Data Manager

T: +250 782 369 174

E: hagenza@gmail.com

H: www.rtda.gov.rw

Rwanda Transport 

Development 

Agency

Emmanuel 

Nkurunziza

Director General and 

The Registrar of Land 

Titles

T: +250 788 300 522

E: anziza2001@yahoo.com

H: www.rnra.rw

Rwanda Natural 

Resources 

Authority

Thierry Hoza 

Ngoga

Land Technical 

Operations Division 

Manager

T: +250 788 872 720

E: tnhoza@gmail.com

H: www.rnra.rw

Rwanda Natural 

Resources 

Authority

Muyange Yves Chief Executive Officer

T: +250 788 307 149

E: ymuyange@ewsa.rw

H: www.ewsa.rw

Energy Water and 

Sanitation 

Authority

Keith Kalyegira
Strategic Adviosr to 

Director General

T: +250 786 133 355

E: kkalyegira@ewsa.rw

H: www.ewsa.rw

Energy Water and 

Sanitation 

Authority

Donna D. 

Rubinoff

Senior Advisor to the 

City of Kigali

T: +250 785 331 396

E: donna.rubinoff@gmail.com

H: www.kigalicity.gov.rw

City of Kigali

Vivien 

Munyaburanga
Lecturer

T: +250 788 802 040

E: vmunyaburanga@nur.ac.rw

H: www.nur.ac.rw

National University 

of Rwanda
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2. 주요회의 내용

○ 기관별 회의 내용

기관 회의일자 주요회의내용

인프라부처(MINIFRA) 9.10(월)
• MOU의 중요성에 모두 동의
• 프로젝트에 녹색의 개념을 담는 것이 중요

주택개발청(RHA)
9.10(월)

9.12(수)

• 르완다 국토비젼 및 전략의 중요성
• 각 기관이 서로 긴밀히 협력

교통청(RTDA) 9.11(화) • 르완다의 여건을 고려한 계획 필요

에너지‧물‧위생청(EWSA) 9.11(화) • 재생에너지 사용의 중요성

자원청(RNRA) 9.12(수) • RNRA와의 역할 및 협력

에너지관리청(REMA) 9.13(목)
• 환경보호를 위해서는 법체계 마련 및 
실제적 대체제 개발 필요

키칼리 시청 9.13(목)
• 르완다 주택수요 추정, UN Habitat 같
은 관련 프로젝트 설명

  ※ 부록1 참조
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[부록 1] 주요회의

1. Meeting with Christian Rwakunda, Director General Policy &
Planning Coordinator, Ministry of Infrastructure (10 September
2012)

□ Participants:

Okju Jeong - SPM , GGGI

Seung Yeoun Lee - PA, GGGI

Jeong Ho Moon - RF, KRIHS

Joon Ki Kim - ARF, KRIHS

Ji-won Youn - R, KICT

Christian Rwakunda - Director General Policy & Planning Coordinator,
MININFRA

□ Place/Date:

The meeting started at 9:00am at DG Christain Rwakunda's Office on 10
September 2012

□ Meeting Agenda:

Explanation about work plan and preparation of MoU for collaboration between
GGGI and MININFRA

Explanation about proposal for component 1, National Territorial Vision and
Strategy for Green Growth, and component 2, Energy Efficient and Affordable
Housing

□ Meeting Highlights

Dr. Jeong explained the overview of work plan that GGGI proposed country
program in Rwanda, which consists of two components, National Territorial
Vision and Strategy for Green Growth (component 1) and Energy Efficient and
Affordable Housing (component 2). She also stressed MoU between
MININFRA and GGGI to implement successfully the program.

Dr. Moon gave a brief explanation about component 1, National Territorial
Vision and Strategy for Green Growth. He also introduced the experience of
Korea, National Territorial and Regional Development Policy in Korea

DG. Rwakunda specially pointed out the importance of component 2, Energy
Efficient and Affordable Housing. He said that developing new construction
materials with local materials was important because imported material
accounted for roughly the 40% of construction cost. Also, he addressed how to
implement the concepts of green into the project.

□ Conclusion/Next Steps

Green concept should be implemented under realistic consideration when
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developing National Territorial Vision and Strategy for Green Growth

MoU will be signed in October or November in 2012 to facilitate collaboration
work between GGGI and MININFRA. Also, 2nd knowledge sharing session
will be hold in Seoul on the second week of November 2012 (6 days).

For further detailed discussion, another teams including water, energy,
construction materials-experts will visit Rwanda on the second week of
October 2012.

2. Meeting with Esther Mutamba, Director General of Rwanda
Housing Authority (10 September 2012)

□ Participants:

Okju Jeong - SPM , GGGI

Seung Yeoun Lee - PA, GGGI

Jeong Ho Moon - RF, KRIHS

Joon Ki Kim - ARF, KRIHS

Ji-won Youn - R, KICT

Esther Mutamba - Director General, RHA

Kalimba Innocent - Head of Construction & Legislation Division, RHA

Kyazze Edward - Head of Housing, Urban Planning & Development Division,
RHA

□ Place/Date:

The meeting started at 02:30pm at DG Esther Mutamba's Office on 10
September 2012

□ Meeting Agenda:

Explanation about work plan and preparation of MoU for collaboration between
GGGI and RHA

□ Meeting Highlights

Dr. Jeong explained the overview of work plan that GGGI proposed country
program in Rwanda, which consists of two components, National Territorial
Vision and Strategy for Green Growth (component 1) and Energy Efficient and
Affordable Housing (component 2). She also stressed MoU between
MININFRA and GGGI to implement successfully the program.

DG Mutamba promised that RHA will collaborate closely with GGGI: Edward
is a counterpart of KRIHS and Innocent is counterpart of KICT, and will give
comments on MoU by the end of September.

Mr. Innocent mentioned that there is a project conducted by UN habitat,
which is related with GGGI's project. Also he will provide a brief explanation
about UN habitat project.
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□ Conclusion/Next Steps

All agreed that it is very important to make a national territorial vision and
strategy for develop Rwanda. Specially, component 2 is very closely related
with ongoing project of RHA. Therefore, RHA will highly support MoU and
GGGI's project.

DG Mutamba agree to send representatives from RHA to the 2nd knowledge
sharing session in Seoul on November.

For further detailed discussion, another teams including water, energy,
construction materials-experts will visit Rwanda on the second week of
October 2012.

3. Meeting with Twagira M. Elias, Director General Policy,
Rwanda Transport Development Agency (11 September 2012)

□ Participants:

Okju Jeong - SPM , GGGI

Seung Yeoun Lee - PA, GGGI

Jeong Ho Moon - RF, KRIHS

Joon Ki Kim - ARF, KRIHS

Ji-won Youn - R, KICT

Twagira M. Elias - Director General, RTDA

Innocent - Data manager, RTDA

Uwineza Josephine - Railway Project Manager, RTDA

□ Place/Date:

The meeting started at 9:30am at DG Twagira m. Elias's Office on 11
September 2012

□ Meeting Agenda:

Explanation about work plan and preparation of MoU for collaboration between
GGGI and RTDA

Explanation about proposal for component 1, National Territorial Vision and
Strategy for Green Growth

□ Meeting Highlights

Dr. Jeong explained the overview of work plan that GGGI proposed country
program in Rwanda, which consists of two components, National Territorial
Vision and Strategy for Green Growth (component 1) and Energy Efficient and
Affordable Housing (component 2). She also presented the importance of
collaboration between RTDA and GGGI to conduct the program successfully.
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Dr. Moon gave a brief explanation about transportation strategies of the
CNTPs (Comprehensive National Territory Planning) such as construction of
Kyungbu Expressway, establishment of 7 X 9 national arterial highway plan,
building of high-speed transport network, and so on. He stressed the
importance of coordination between economic development and territorial
development.

DG Twagira M. Elias described Rwanda's plans related with GGGI's project
such as Transport Strategic Master Plan consisting of long term, middle term,
and short term-plan and Kigali Transportation Master Plan. He was concerned
that macro plan would just remain as a plan without coming to the realization.
Also, he pointed out the problems that Kigali city faces such as transportation
safety, maintenance of infrastructure, unfriendly pedestrian environment, and so
on.

□ Conclusion/Next Steps

RTDA will support GGGI's project and provide related plan and materials
including data such as road map, road condition, traffic information and related
projects such as railway project and airport project, etc., after finishing MoU
sign. Also, RTDA will send representatives from RTDA to the 2nd knowledge
sharing session in Seoul on November 2012.

There is a need to establish priorities between transportation infrastructures.
There is a need to another visit to Rwanda around November for data
collection to analyze land use development and transportation infrastructures

Details discussion and collaborations between GGGI and RTDA will be
discussed further.

4. Meeting with Muyange Yves, Chief Executive Officer, Energy
Water and Sanitation Authority (11 September 2012)

□ Participants:

Okju Jeong - SPM , GGGI

Seung Yeoun Lee - PA, GGGI

Jeong Ho Moon - RF, KRIHS

Joon Ki Kim - ARF, KRIHS

Ji-won Youn - R, KICT

Muyange Yves - Chief Executive Officer, EWSA

Keith Kalyegira - Strategic Advisor to Director General

□ Place/Date:

The meeting started at 4:30pm at CEO Muyange Yves's Office on 11
September 2012

□ Meeting Agenda:
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Explanation about work plan and preparation of MoU for collaboration between
GGGI and RTDA

Explanation about proposal for component 1, National Territorial Vision and
Strategy for Green Growth and experience of Korea about CNPs

□ Meeting Highlights

Dr. Jeong explained the overview of work plan that GGGI proposed country
program in Rwanda, which consists of two components, National Territorial
Vision and Strategy for Green Growth (component 1) and Energy Efficient and
Affordable Housing (component 2)..

CEO Muyange Yves demonstrate a renewable energy usage in Rwanda and
electric saving efforts such as usage of LED.

□ Conclusion/Next Steps

Details discussion and collaborations between GGGI and EWSA will be
discussed further the next visit, the second week of October.

5. Presentation of RHA project (12 September 2012)

□ Participants:

Okju Jeong - SPM , GGGI

Seung Yeoun Lee - PA, GGGI

Jeong Ho Moon - RF, KRIHS

Joon Ki Kim - ARF, KRIHS

Ji-won Youn - R, KICT

Kalimba Innocent - Head of Construction & Legislation Division, RHA

Kamanzi M. Franco - Regulations & Standards unit Coordinator, RHA

□ Place/Date:

The meeting started at 8:30pm at Rwanda Housing Authority on 12 September
2012

□ Meeting Agenda:

Presentation about Inventory of Local Building Materials in Kamonyi District

□ Meeting Highlights

Eng. Kamanzi Franco explained inventory project related with component 2,
energy efficient and affordable housing.

□ Conclusion/Next Steps
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RHA will highly support GGGI's project since RHA's project and GGGI's
project are closely related and complement each other. Further details
discussion and collaborations between GGGI and RHA will be discussed in the
next visit, the second week of October.

6. Field trip to Kamonyi District (12 September 2012)

□ Participants:

Okju Jeong - SPM , GGGI

Seung Yeoun Lee - PA, GGGI

Jeong Ho Moon - RF, KRIHS

Joon Ki Kim - ARF, KRIHS

Ji-won Youn - R, KICT

Kalimba Innocent - Head of Construction & Legislation Division, RHA

□ Place/Date:

Kamony district field trip from 12:00pm to 2:30pm on 12 September 2012

□ Meeting Agenda:

Visiting formal laboratory, RULIBAClays Ltd, local housing construction site,
and local brick factory

□ Meeting Highlights

See attached Appendix 3.

□ Conclusion/Next Steps

RHA will highly support GGGI's project. Further details discussion and
collaborations between GGGI and RHA will be discussed in the next visit, the
second week of October.

7. Meeting with Emmanuel Nkurunziza, Director General and the
Registrar of Land Titles, Rwanda Natural Resources Authority
(12 September 2012)

□ Participants:

Okju Jeong - SPM , GGGI

Seung Yeoun Lee - PA, GGGI

Jeong Ho Moon - RF, KRIHS

Joon Ki Kim - ARF, KRIHS

Ji-won Youn - R, KICT
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Emmanuel Nkurnziza - Director General and the Registrar of Land Titles,
RNRA

□ Place/Date:

The meeting started at 3:00pm at DG Emmanuel Nkurnziza's Office on 12
September 2012

□ Meeting Agenda:

Explanation about work plan and preparation of MoU for collaboration between
GGGI and RTDA

Explanation about proposal for component 1, National Territorial Vision and
Strategy for Green Growth and experience of Korea about CNPs

□ Meeting Highlights

Dr. Jeong explained the overview of work plan that GGGI proposed country
program in Rwanda, which consists of two components, National Territorial
Vision and Strategy for Green Growth (component 1) and Energy Efficient and
Affordable Housing (component 2). Also, she shared the idea of MoU with DG
Nkumziza.

Dr. Moon explained about transportation strategies of the CNTPs
(Comprehensive National Territory Planning) such as construction of Kyungbu
Expressway, establishment of 7 X 9 national arterial highway plan, building of
high-speed transport network, and so on. He stressed that the results of
GGGI's project is not an answer but merely an alternatives or suggestions
that Rwanda government can choose, therefore, collaboration between GGGI
and RNRA is the focal point for the success of the project

DG Nkurnziza agreed the importance of collaborations between GGGI and
RNRA, and suggested that RNRA might be a better counterpart than
MININFRA since RNRA participated in Rwanda National Land Use Master
Plan and MININFRA is more focusing on Urban. He also introduced Thierry
Hoza Ngoga as a counterpart

 

□ Conclusion/Next Steps

Thierry Hoza Ngoga will provide data used in Rwanda National Land Use
Master Plan.

Details discussion and collaborations between GGGI and RNRA will be
discussed further.

8. Meeting with Emmanuel Nkurunziza, Director General and the
Registrar of Land Titles, Rwanda Environment Management
Authority Portal (13 September 2012)

□ Participants:

Okju Jeong - SPM , GGGI
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Seung Yeoun Lee - PA, GGGI

Jeong Ho Moon - RF, KRIHS

Joon Ki Kim - ARF, KRIHS

Ji-won Youn - R, KICT

Unknown -REMA

□ Place/Date:

The meeting started at 1:30pm at REMA on 13 September 2012

□ Meeting Agenda:

Explanation about work plan and preparation of MoU for collaboration between
GGGI and REMA

□ Meeting Highlights

Dr. Jeong explained the overview of work plan that GGGI proposed country
program in Rwanda, which consists of two components, National Territorial
Vision and Strategy for Green Growth (component 1) and Energy Efficient and
Affordable Housing (component 2). She also stressed MoU between REMA
and GGGI to implement successfully the program.

Person who is working in REMA explained about Rwanda's law related with
environment protection. She pointed out that although a people who do works
such as making bricks needs a certification (it might help to protect
environment), problem is that there is a no option to replace plants such as
woods to bake bricks or cook food. Also, she mentioned that developed
technologies through component 2 should be fixed with Rwanda's situation.

□ Conclusion/Next Steps

Details discussion and collaborations between GGGI and REMA will be
discussed further.

9. Meeting with Donna D. Rubinoff, Senior Advisor, City of Kigali
(13 September 2012)

□ Participants:

Okju Jeong - SPM , GGGI

Seung Yeoun Lee - PA, GGGI

Jeong Ho Moon - RF, KRIHS

Joon Ki Kim - ARF, KRIHS

Ji-won Youn - R, KICT

Donna D. Rubinoff - Senior Advisor, City of Kigali



- 13 -

□ Place/Date:

The meeting started at 3:00pm at Urban Planning and Construction Office on
13 September 2012

□ Meeting Agenda:

Explanation about GGGI's work plan

Explanation about proposal for component 1, National Territorial Vision and
Strategy for Green Growth and experience of Korea about CNPs

□ Meeting Highlights

Dr. Jeong explained the overview of work plan and the experience of Korea
about CNPs. Dr. Rubinoff explained related project, Housing Market Demand,
Housing Finance, and Housing References for the City of Kigali. She
suggested reviewing closely related projects such as Rwanda National Land
Use Master Plan and UN Habitat project to avoid serious overlap among
projects. She also suggested collaboration with UN habitat

□ Conclusion/Next Steps

GIS data is available and will be provided to GGGI by Enrico Morriello,
assistant vice president of Surbana International Consultants Pte. Ltd.

10. Field trip to Musanze (14-15 September 2012)

See attached Appendix 4.
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[부록 2] 발표자료 (KRIHS, GGGI)



- 15 -



- 16 -



- 17 -



- 18 -



- 19 -



- 20 -



- 21 -



- 22 -



- 23 -



- 24 -



- 25 -



- 26 -



- 27 -



- 28 -



- 29 -

[부록 3] Field Trip - Kamonyi District

< Formal Research Laboratory > < RULIBAClays Ltd >

< Local Housing Construction Site -1 > < Local Housing Construction Site -2 >

< Local Brick Factory -1 > < Local Brick Factory -2 >
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[부록 4] Field Trip - Musanze

< Kivu Power Generation > < Gisenyi Hydropower Plant >

< Primus Beer Company > < Rubava Nyabihu Tea Company >

< Hot Spring > < Reconciliation Village >

< Border between Rwanda and Congo > < Main Road >
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[부록 5] Rwanda Transportation

<Motor Bike Taxi> <Mini Bus & Stop>

<National Main Taxi Park Nyabugogo> <Intercity Bus>

< Arterial road –1 > < Arterial road –1 >

<Parking Problem> <Congested Road>


